1

# The importance of considering age when quantifying wild animals' welfare

# Luke Hecht\* 🕫

<sup>1</sup>Wild Animal Initiative, 115 Elm Street, Suite I, PMB 2321, Farmington, MN, 55024, U.S.A.
<sup>2</sup>Department of Biosciences, Durham University, Stockton Road, Durham, DH1 3LE, U.K.

# ABSTRACT

Wild animals experience different challenges and opportunities as they mature, and this variety of experiences can lead to different levels of welfare characterizing the day-to-day lives of individuals of different ages. At the same time, most wild animals who are born do not survive to adulthood. Individuals who die as juveniles do not simply experience a homogeneous fraction of the lifetimes of older members of their species; rather, their truncated lives may be characterized by very different levels of welfare. Here, I propose the concept of welfare expectancy as a framework for quantifying wild animal welfare at a population level, given individual-level data on average welfare with respect to age. This concept fits conveniently alongside methods of analysis already used in population ecology, such as demographic sensitivity analysis, and is applicable to evaluating the welfare consequences of human interventions and natural pressures that disproportionately affect individuals of different ages. In order to understand better and improve the state of wild animal welfare, more attention should be directed towards young animals and the particular challenges they face.

Key words: wild animal welfare, cumulative welfare, life history, demographics, ageing

### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	2
II.	Assessing wild animal welfare	2
III.	Welfare is not constant	3
IV.	Quantifying welfare accumulated over time	6
V.	Accounting for age-specific variation in welfare and survivorship	7
VI.	Implications of age-structured welfare	8
VII.	Outstanding questions and challenges	9
	(1) Death as a discrete welfare event	. 9
	(2) Comparing long-term and short-term welfare	11
	(3) The plausibility of improving age-specific welfare	11
VIII.	Priorities for future research	. 11
	(1) Early-life survival rates	11
	(2) Early-life welfare	12
	(3) Efficient, non-invasive welfare indicators for wild animals	12
IX.	Conclusions	.12
Х.	Acknowledgements	.13
XI.	References	.13

 <sup>\*</sup> Address for correspondence (E-mail: luke.hecht@wildanimalinitiative.org)

*Biological Reviews* (2021) 000–000 © 2021 The Author. *Biological Reviews* published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

## I. INTRODUCTION

The welfare of domesticated animals has been studied extensively; there is a whole field of veterinary science dedicated to it (Dawkins, 2006; Broom, 2011). Attention has also been given to the direct welfare effects of some human actions on wild animals [e.g. forestry (Blumstein, 2010); roads (Cappa, Borghi & Giannoni, 2019)], as human impacts on the environment have begun to blur the distinction between domestic and wild. However, comparatively little attention has been given to the welfare of individual wild animals independently of the conservation outlook for the species to which they belong. Here, I use the term 'wild animal' broadly, to include all animals whose lives are not managed in detail by humans. This includes animals living freely in human-dominated environments, such as parks and urban spaces, but excludes pets, livestock, and animals kept in zoos. Thus, the state of being a wild animal depends on the current circumstances of individual animals and not on the history of their species. A key objective of the nascent fields of conservation welfare (Beausoleil et al., 2018) and welfare biology (Ng, 1995; Soryl et al., 2021) is to evaluate the quality of lives lived by wild animals in order to identify causes of poor welfare, as well as safe and tractable interventions to improve their welfare.

The philosophical underpinnings of investigations into wild animal welfare can vary widely, from practitioners who believe humans have a duty of care to all wild animals (e.g. Capozzelli, Hecht & Halsey, 2020), to those who feel we only have a negative duty to avoid harming wild animals with our actions, or those who only value welfare instrumentally in order to improve other conservation outcomes (e.g. Cooke & O'Connor, 2010). Nevertheless, each of these motivations can only be addressed if we have ways to measure and assess the welfare of wild animals. Yet, it is unlikely that we will be able to assess the outcomes of our actions on wild animal welfare by measuring the welfare of every affected individual. Therefore, to use welfare data effectively, we must identify ways of scaling it up to the population level.

One of the main ways in which individual welfare might be distributed over a population is by age. When considering wild animals, it is common to imagine healthy adults acting out the lifestyle to which their species has adapted. Unfortunately, this is not representative of what most animals experience; in many species, only a minority survive to maturity. Consider the example of the American black bear (Ursus americanus). These animals are capable of long adult lives with liberal access to food and socialization, yet many bears end their lives while still cubs through predation, malnutrition, disease, or even flooding of their natal dens (e.g. Alt, 1984; LeCount, 1987; Chomel et al., 1998). Many more bears' lives end as subadults, during the period of vulnerability between the withdrawal of maternal care and their full maturation (e.g. Elowe & Dodge, 1989; Schwartz & Franzmann, 1992; Clark & Smith, 1994; Miller, 1994). Bears that reach adulthood may live long and seemingly contented lives; but of course, even adult bears are vulnerable to disease, injury,

and anthropogenic threats like vehicle collision and hunting. To be born as a bear is to gamble on all of these outcomes.

A full understanding of wild animal welfare, then, must take into account the range of lifespans that occur among wild animals of the same species, and the varying levels of welfare an individual might experience as they mature. That is to say, a synthesis of animal welfare science and population ecology is needed. Herein, I will explain the need for and describe an approach that takes into account the different levels of welfare wild animals may experience over the course of their lives, helping to evaluate the consequences of human actions and natural pressures that disproportionately affect animals of different ages.

# II. ASSESSING WILD ANIMAL WELFARE

The age at which an individual is most likely to die depends on life-history traits expressed by and inherited from their parents (De Magalhães & Costa, 2009; Healy et al., 2019). For example, in species with extensive parental care, offspring mortality risk can spike during the period after parental care is withdrawn but before the young animal fully matures (e.g. gentoo penguin, Pygoscelis papua; Polito & Trivelpiece, 2008). Juveniles are protected and provided for and may engage in play or other socialization. However, when parental care is withdrawn, these same juveniles transition to subadulthood and may face a period of greater difficulty in acquiring food, increased threat from predators, and a lack of positive social interactions while they finish maturing. As surviving individuals progress through prime adulthood and into old age, they may experience further positive and negative changes of circumstance.

These conditions of threat, challenge and respite relate to important facets of animal welfare as conceptualized by multiple widely used models which ask, fundamentally, whether animals are healthy and whether they have what they want (Dawkins, 2003). The Five Domains model conceives of an animal's mental well-being as the product of their physical condition, behaviour (including socialization), access to quality food and water, and environment (including perception of security) (Mellor & Beausoleil, 2015; Mellor et al., 2020) (Fig. 1). The model provides a classification scheme for threats to animals' welfare, such as malnourishment, lack of shelter, poor health, fear/distress, and lack of enrichment and socialization. The Five Domains have been widely applied to domestic animals, including farmed animals. However, the domains are also applicable to many wild animals (Harvey et al., 2020).

An absence of threats does not guarantee that an animal will live a truly good life. Moreover, certain positive experiences an animal can have might compensate for some negative experiences (Mellor & Beausoleil, 2015). This is especially relevant for wild animals, for whom many negative experiences are unavoidable, as most lack protection even



**Fig 1.** The quality of each of the four physiological domains (Mellor & Beausoleil, 2015; Mellor *et al.*, 2020) may vary with age in many species, amounting to changes in mental state and psychological well-being (affective state), together comprising the Five Domains model. Different scores in these domains may also affect individuals' lifespan, whether through immediate causes of mortality (dehydration, starvation, disease, overheating/freezing, or predation) or as chronic stressors impairing the immune system and accelerating ageing (Walker *et al.*, 2012; Bateson, 2016).

from the most basic causes of suffering, such as disease and hunger.

The welfare of wild animals as individuals has received relatively little research attention (Beausoleil et al., 2018; Soryl et al., 2021), in part because of the comparative difficulty of monitoring free-living individuals and the lack of a framework for systematically analysing their needs (but see Harvey et al., 2020). While in-depth assessment of the welfare of each individual is clearly the ideal, this is unlikely to be tractable for most wild animal populations. In contrast to the closely managed lives of most domestic animals, especially those consigned to factory farms, wild animals' experiences can be incredibly varied. Given this variability, a degree of generalization will be required to scale individual-level welfare data up to be informative on the level of populations, species, and ecological communities. This sort of up-scaling is challenging, but with significant precedent in conservation science (e.g. landscape genetics; Storfer et al., 2010). If individual welfare is indeed correlated with demographic characteristics, such as age or sex, obtaining a representative sample from which to generalize will require understanding a population's demographic structure.

Not enough is yet known about the precise factors determining individual welfare in most species to enable a proper welfare assessment based on the Five Domains model. In less well-understood species (or difficult-to-monitor populations of well-understood species), metrics such as body condition, biological ageing rate, stress hormone levels, and incidence of injury could be used to estimate welfare (Johnstone, Reina & Lill, 2012). For example, the healthiest individuals of these non-model populations could be used as benchmarks of good welfare. Of course, these are merely proxies and not a full substitute for a detailed knowledge of their behaviour, physiology and preferences. They should be respected as justifiable measures; a way to approximate wild animal welfare until new methods are validated and species-specific natural history knowledge is assembled.

## **III. WELFARE IS NOT CONSTANT**

The daily probability of dying varies with age across nearly all populations (Healy et al., 2019). The most likely manner of death also varies with age as a function of factors including self-sufficiency, disease susceptibility, socialization, and exposure to predation (Fig. 2). A meta-analysis of cause-specific mortality studies by Hill, Devault & Belant (2019a) suggests that predation accounts for almost twice as many juvenile deaths as adult deaths in mammals and reptiles, with adults being more affected by direct anthropogenic threats, like hunting. For example, Schmidt-Posthaus et al. (2002) found that juvenile Eurasian lynx (Lynx lynx) most commonly died from disease or starvation, while most subadults and adults died from disease or hunting, with some also dying as a result of accidents, including intraspecific fighting, falling and drowning. Birds, by contrast, showed relatively little difference between juvenile and adult causes of death (Fig. 2).



Fig 2. Cause-specific mortality rates separated by age and taxonomic class. Adapted from Hill *et al.* (2019*a*) based on data from the CauseSpec database (Hill *et al.*, 2019*b*).

The biological ageing process – senescence – is also expected to lead to an increasing incidence of intrinsic causes of mortality with age, as individuals' bodies gradually fail (Ricklefs, 2000; Carnes *et al.*, 2006; Moorad, Promislow & Silvertown, 2019). Siler (1979) modelled age-specific mortality rates as the product of competing risks that each varied in severity as a function of age. For example, in theory, a hazard of immaturity declines with age up to adulthood as individuals develop physically and learn to be self-sufficient, while adults of a certain age begin to suffer from the hazard of senescence, which increases over time. This approach has been influential on subsequent meta-analyses of causespecific mortality data, especially in identifying effects of senescence on survival rates (e.g. Heisey & Patterson, 2006; Colchero *et al.*, 2019).

The fact that age-specific determinants of mortality rate (health, environment, social interactions, etc.) are closely related to widely recognized dimensions of welfare (Fig. 1) suggests that average welfare may also vary among age groups in a population as juveniles, subadults, reproductive adults and senescent adults often face different levels and forms of disease, competition, predation, socialization, and environmental hardship. For example, the scheduled withdrawal of feeding by parents thrusts their offspring into a stage of life during which they are more likely to die of starvation (e.g. chinstrap penguin, *Pygoscelis antarctica*; Moreno *et al.*, 1999). Presumably, individuals who are at elevated risk of starvation are also more likely to experience the feeling of hunger than they would be during other phases of life, even if they ultimately survive.

Relative age-specific mortality rates probably offer limited information about welfare in a given population. Specifically, they may reflect the frequency and/or severity of acute welfare threats, relative to the resilience of the affected animals (Rakotoniaina et al., 2017). For example, if (in a hypothetical population) subadults have more encounters with predators than mature adults do over the course of a typical year, then even if subadults were equally capable of fending off predators, one would expect to see a higher rate of mortality among subadults, as well as an established cause of higher stress and poorer welfare (Clinchy, Sheriff & Zanette, 2013). The limits of age-specific mortality as a proxy for welfare are exposed by considering chronic challenges that may lead to premature death through illness or accelerated ageing, but never instantaneous death. These include most challenges related to the behavioural and environmental domains of welfare (e.g. social isolation), and some health challenges (e.g. malnutrition). Mortality rates are also unlikely to respond with adequate sensitivity to age-specific differences in exposure to positive stimuli, such as amicable social interactions, or food that is not only nutritious but varied and enjoyable. Some effect is expected, but it may only become apparent by comparing full lifespans (Walker et al., 2012).

It is also conceivable that welfare might be invariant with age in some species, or that the determinants of welfare are so complex that welfare varies irregularly over a lifetime. However, it seems highly likely that welfare would shift in some direction concurrently with major life-history transitions, like the metamorphosis of a tadpole or caterpillar, the

ejection of young male hyenas or female meerkats from their natal groups (e.g. Maag et al., 2019), or sexual maturation in most species. Even in humans, whose welfare we may assume is determined by the most complex array of factors, clear agespecific patterns have been identified, such as a mid-life (age  $\sim$  30–60) slump in happiness and life satisfaction, with peaks in early adulthood and around retirement age, and a gradual decline during late life (Cheng, Powdthavee & Oswald, 2017; Fig. 3). While many of the patterns associated with age-specific welfare in humans are functions of complex social effects, it is possible that common biological processes could also lead to sustained age-specific welfare patterns in wild animals. Such features of other species' typical lifetimes might be identified if more research was dedicated to quantifying their welfare. As with humans, though, the patterns and causes of welfare variation with age are likely to be specific to each population, summarising the diverse (but not entirely unique) experiences of its constituent individuals.

One of the best examples so far of welfare-relevant data for wild animals being broken down by age comes from the intensively monitored population of Seychelles warblers (*Acrocephalus sechellensis*) on Cousin Island (Hammers *et al.*, 2015). No single welfare indicator should be expected to provide a complete picture of an animal's affective state, as none can provide information simultaneously on all the Five Domains of welfare (Fig. 1). However, accelerated telomere attrition and aberrant haematocrit levels are expected to be linked to poor health and stress for a wide range of vertebrate taxa (Johnstone *et al.*, 2012; Filipsson *et al.*, 2017; Bateson & Poirier, 2019; Chatelain, Drobniak & Szulkin, 2020). These putative stress biomarkers [telomere attrition rate (Barrett *et al.*, 2013); haematocrit (Brown *et al.*, 2021)], as well as prevalence of malaria infection (Hammers *et al.*, 2016), have all been shown to vary with age in this population of Seychelles warblers (Fig. 4).

Brown *et al.* (2021) reported that juvenile warblers, in their first year of life, had very low haematocrit levels on average, but individuals at the upper end of their age-specific range of haematocrit values were found to have lower survival rates, possibly reflecting a physiological response to dehydration. Young, independent warblers (ages  $\sim 1-3$  years) had higher haematocrit values than prime adults (ages  $\sim 4-7$  years), which, the authors suggested, could indicate higher stress and demand for exertion during this stage of life, perhaps due to competition for territory and status.

Increased exertion during early independent life (i.e. subadult stage) has been widely reported, with different mechanisms proposed depending on the species. A common cause is foraging inexperience, with examples from some marine mammals and seabirds [e.g. Steller sea lion, *Eumetopias jubatus* (Trites & Donnelly, 2003); Galápagos sea lion, *Zalophus wollebaeki* (Jeglinski *et al.*, 2012); wandering albatross *Diomedea exulans* (Fay *et al.*, 2016); Cory's Shearwater, *Calonectris borealis* (Ramos *et al.*, 2019)]. For these diving animals, foraging efficiency is closely linked to physical development and stamina, putting immature individuals at a disadvantage. In



**Fig 3.** UK Office for National Statistics (2017) averages of happiness, life satisfaction and anxiety in men and women by age group, on a self-assessed 10-point scale. Similar patterns have been found in longitudinal studies, which avoid generational differences that might have confounded cross-sectional surveys like this one (e.g. Cheng *et al.*, 2017).

Biological Reviews (2021) 000-000 © 2021 The Author. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.



**Fig 4.** (A) Age-related trends in the mean values of annual telomere attrition rate (blue) and haematocrit (red) based on studies of the Seychelles warblers (*Acrocephalus sechellensis*) on Cousin Island (Barrett *et al.*, 2013; Brown *et al.*, 2021). (B) The prevalence of malarial infection varies strongly with age in the same population (Hammers *et al.*, 2016). Points and bars represent the mean ± standard error.

other taxa, low juvenile/subadult success relative to effort may result from other factors, such as suboptimal foraging strategies [e.g. savannah sparrow, Passerculus sandwichensis (Wheelwright & Templeton, 2003); bluegill, Lepomis macrochirus (Harrel & Dibble, 2001)], inability to compete with larger adults (e.g. grizzly bear, Ursus arctos horribilis; Keay, Robbins & Farley, 2018), or heightened need for predator avoidance [collared pika, Ochotona collaris (Holmes, 1991); turbot, Scophthalmus maximus and European flounder, Platichthys flesus (Nordström & Booth, 2007)] which may limit the foods and feeding sites available to subadults. Of course, not all aspects of welfare vary with age concurrently or in the same direction. For example, Granthon & Williams (2017) found that the heterophil-to-lymphocyte ratio (H/L), a common indicator of short-term stress in birds, was related to malaria prevalence in four species of songbirds. Contrary to their expectations, however, the authors did not identify significant age-specific differences in parasitaemia.

In some cases, differences in average welfare across juvenile, mature, and elderly animals may result from specific life-history adaptations. The concept of antagonistic pleiotropy has long been invoked to explain the evolution of ageing, where gene variants that are net beneficial to the reproductive fitness of an organism early in their life are selected for despite net-harmful consequences for the same organism later in life (Williams, 1957). This may help to explain the taxonomically common (but not universal) occurrence of poorer health late in life, possibly resulting in poorer welfare (Austad & Hoffman, 2018). However, it is also critical to remember that reproductive fitness does not always equate to welfare in the life of a single individual (Beausoleil et al., 2018). As a result, the opposite trend can also occur, with life-history adaptations that increase lifetime reproductive fitness due to their benefits during adulthood, while plausibly reducing the welfare of juveniles. An example of this is found in the great crested newt (Triturus cristatus). In this species, local population density has opposite effects for juveniles *versus* adults (Cayuela *et al.*, 2019). Juveniles in crowded ponds experience lower survival rates and attain lower body size as a result of competition, while adults in crowded ponds experience higher survival rates due to the risk of predation being more thinly spread over the local population. Adults also receive a fitness benefit through more numerous mating opportunities. As a result, great crested newts approaching sexual maturity preferentially disperse in search of more crowded ponds, despite the consequences for juvenile survival and health.

# IV. QUANTIFYING WELFARE ACCUMULATED OVER TIME

The importance of viewing welfare as something that accumulates over an animal's lifetime has been recognized in the context of animals used for food and experimentation (e.g. Green & Mellor, 2011; Pickard, 2013). Recently, Bateson & Poirier (2019) proposed that the ratio between biological and chronological age, as measured by biomarkers including telomere length, could be used as a proxy for the quality of welfare experienced across an animal's life, at least in many vertebrates. This approach is premised on the fact that cellular damage and repair is often triggered by physiological processes, the efficiencies of which can be affected by emotional states, such as stress or happiness (Bateson, 2016). For example, European starlings (Sturnus vulgaris) exposed to adverse conditions, such as sibling competition, have been shown to accelerate biological ageing over the study period, especially when they are weaker competitors (Gott et al., 2018). An important caveat is that the magnitude of the effect of a given experience on the rate of ageing may not be in exact proportion to the subjective welfare impact of the experience. That is to say, something that is only mildly pleasant or unpleasant in terms of an individual's subjective experience could have an exaggerated or attenuated effect on metrics of biological ageing, depending on how directly it interacts (e.g. *via* somatic damage) with the physiological pathways that shape ageing biomarkers like telomere attrition and hippocampal volume (Bateson & Poirier, 2019). However, if further research continues to validate biomarkers of biological ageing as reliable welfare indicators for domestic animals, subsequent longitudinal studies of biological ageing in wild animals might be possible, with the goal of estimating the cumulative welfare contained in the lives of individuals with specific experiences and life outcomes relative to other members of their population.

The welfare value of a single year of life can be benchmarked in several ways depending on the intended application. Following the medical and welfare economics literature on quality-adjusted life years (QALYs) in humans (Weinstein, Torrance & McGuire, 2009), welfare could be expressed as a fractional value where 1 represents a year of life in ideal physical and emotional condition (including the complete absence of negative feelings such as hunger and loneliness). A direct adaptation of QALYs to domestic animals - welfare-adjusted life years (WALYs) - has been proposed by Teng et al. (2018), using surveyed opinions of veterinarians to apply impaired welfare weights to specific health conditions. For wild animals, this kind of analysis would be most appropriate in contexts and species where the preferences of individuals are relatively well understood. For example, Harvey et al. (2020) assessed the welfare of injured wild horses Equus ferus caballus using an ordinal scale based on the Five Domains model. If this approach was expanded to the entire local population of wild horses, it should be possible to build up a representative picture of their welfare and how it is structured in relation to age or other demographic categories.

# V. ACCOUNTING FOR AGE-SPECIFIC VARIATION IN WELFARE AND SURVIVORSHIP

A focus on cumulative welfare requires understanding not only animals' moment-to-moment welfare, but also their lifespans, as lifespan determines the number and duration of positive or negative experiences individuals can have (Pickard, 2013). A population's demographic structure is conventionally represented by a life table noting, among other things, the proportion of a cohort that survive from birth to a given age ('survivorship'). From a survivorship curve, it is possible to calculate the proportion of the surviving cohort that die at that age ('age-specific mortality'), and the average number of years remaining to individuals of a given age ('residual life expectancy'). While life tables generally express their statistics in terms of proportions of a population or cohort, these proportions are equivalent to probabilities when down-scaled to the level of individuals. For example, from the perspective of a newborn, survivorship to age five represents their probability of living to at least age five.

Life expectancy from birth refers to the mean lifespan of individuals in a population. For example, a life expectancy of 3 years could mean that every individual lives for 3 years, or it could mean that two-thirds of individuals live for only 1 year while the remainder live 7 years. Life expectancy calculations weigh each year equally, since each year objectively represents an equivalent amount of time. However, as discussed in Section IV, different periods of an animal's life may contain different levels of welfare depending on the sum of welfare-relevant experiences during that period. If welfare varies with age, then individuals that die at different ages may have experienced different average levels of welfare over the course of their lives, as well as different total amounts of welfare (average welfare multiplied by lifespan). This potential for age-specific variation in welfare, against a background of variation in lifespan, calls for a distinct concept of 'welfare expectancy'.

I define welfare expectancy as the average sum of welfare that an individual born into a given population will experience over their lifetime. Many animals die as juveniles, only experiencing the level of welfare associated with that stage of life; more survive to adulthood, and some survive on to an advanced age. Each of these alternative biographies will clearly entail different amounts of time lived, but the average quality of welfare during those lifetimes may also differ. Individuals who die as young adults, for example, will have missed out on the welfare-relevant experiences of mating and parenthood, but will have experienced life as a juvenile, during which time they may have been especially vulnerable or effectively cared for (depending on their parents' lifehistory strategy). Individuals who survive beyond reproductive age will have experienced all of these stages, plus - in some species - a terminal decline in their health associated with senescence.

Welfare expectancy from birth  $(W_0)$  is calculated by summing the age-specific welfare values experienced over the ages encompassed by each possible lifespan weighted by the probability of that lifespan as derived from a life table or other demographic model. This is roughly equivalent to the equation for net reproductive rate, but with age-specific fecundity replaced with age-specific welfare (Stearns, 1992; Stubben & Milligan, 2007).

$$W_0 = \sum_{x=0}^{\omega} (d_x \times w_x) \tag{1}$$

where  $d_x$  = probability from birth of dying at age x,  $w_x$  = net total welfare experienced during a lifespan of x years, and  $\omega$  = maximum lifespan.

The expected value of welfare in a 5-year life would equal the total welfare experienced by the average individual from birth to age five, multiplied by the probability of a 5-year lifespan. Repeating this operation for each possible lifespan and taking the sum would yield the welfare expectancy for an individual born into that population. For example, welfare expectancy in a bear population could be estimated as the average welfare of cubs multiplied by the average period of time spent as a cub (birth to family dispersal), plus the average welfare of subadults multiplied by the average duration of the subadult stage, and so on.

Considering how much uncertainty remains about the absolute levels of welfare experienced by most wild animals (Botreau et al., 2007), it seems prudent to focus on relative differences in lifetime welfare among individuals of a given species. This can be expressed with a related metric, 'demographic welfare expectancy' (DWE), which asks whether the periods encompassed by the lifespan of the average individual in a population are above average or below average in terms of welfare, compared to an individual in the same population who lives out their full theoretical lifespan. For example, do most individuals only live long enough to experience the harshest times that life as a member of their species has to offer, while a privileged few survive to a relatively pleasant adulthood? To illustrate by reference to the human well-being data shown in Fig. 3, most people in the UK (life expectancy ~81 years) live through peaks and troughs of happiness and life satisfaction, the average of which is approximately representative of the well-being experienced over a maximum-length human lifespan (>100 years). By contrast, wild animals' life expectancies from birth are typically less than 20% of their species' theoretical longevity (Fig. 5). The great variability of lifespans within wild animal species demonstrates the potential for age-specific variation in welfare to lead to significant differences in the average welfare experienced over the course of individual animals' lives, highlighting the need to consider age when assessing the welfare of wild animal populations.

The demographic welfare expectancy (DWE) index is calculated by normalizing age-specific welfare values  $(w_x)$ around 1, such that the sum of all  $w_x$  equals maximum lifespan  $\omega$ . These values of  $w_x$  are then used to calculate welfare expectancy from birth  $(W_0)$  as in Equation (1). Finally,  $W_0$  is divided by life expectancy  $(e_0)$ : DWE =  $W_0/e_0$ .

This index quantifies the overlap of the average lifespan with periods of relatively high or low welfare. For example, a DWE > 1 implies that most individuals will live through periods of life characterized by above-average welfare, so average day-to-day welfare during the life of a typical individual would be greater than for an individual who lived out their theoretical maximum lifespan. On the other hand, for DWE < 1, a population's survivorship patterns mean that below-average periods occupy a disproportionately large share of most individuals' lifetimes. As life expectancy approaches a species' maximum lifespan, DWE will tend towards 1 because the average welfare an individual experiences over the course of their lifetime is increasingly representative of average welfare over that species' full theoretical lifespan. Whereas base welfare expectancy  $(W_0)$ scales with life expectancy, DWE does not; it is only affected



**Fig 5.** A boxplot showing life expectancy as a percentage of a species' maximum lifespan for 152 populations of fish (N = 16), birds (N = 54), mammals (N = 72) and reptiles (N = 10). Each box encompasses the central 50% of the species' proportional life expectancy estimates, the bars represent the top and bottom quartiles, and the circles are outlying data points. The horizontal line in the middle of each box denotes the median and the X denotes the mean. Most individuals live to only 10–30% of the age of the oldest known individuals of their species across these major vertebrate classes. Life expectancies were calculated from published models for wild populations, retained in the COMADRE database (Salguero-Gómez *et al.*, 2016). Maximum lifespans were obtained from the AnAge life-history database (De Magalhães & Costa, 2009).

by the relative age-specific distributions of lifespan and welfare, not by their absolute values.

# VI. IMPLICATIONS OF AGE-STRUCTURED WELFARE

Many wildlife management strategies and conservation interventions influence the demographic structure of affected populations, intentionally or unintentionally. For example, demographic sensitivity analysis is sometimes applied to species to identify age groups for which a marginal reduction in mortality rate would result in the largest increase in population growth rate (Benton & Grant, 1999; Gerber & Heppell, 2004). This information then informs the design of conservation interventions like habitat reserves. An early use of this type of sensitivity analysis was in the evaluation of 'headstarting' programs for newborn turtles, where juvenile turtles are fed and protected until they are self-sufficient and large enough to have an increased chance of survival to adulthood. Demographic sensitivity analyses demonstrated that, despite the extreme juvenile mortality that is seen in some turtle species, small improvements to the survival of older turtles could actually have a greater effect on average lifetime reproductive output (e.g. yellow mud turtle *Kinosternon flavescens* and Kemp's ridley sea turtle *Lepidochelys kempi*; Heppell, Crowder & Crouse, 1996). But targeted protection of either juveniles or adults would also be expected to alter the equilibrium age structure of the species, just as would unequal exposure to threats (Holmes & York, 2003). For example, Monson *et al.* (2000) found that mortality among sea otters (*Enhydra lutris*) caused by the *Exxon Valdez* oil spill affected certain age groups disproportionately, skewing their population's demographic structure for generations after the event.

The mechanisms by which an intervention or management strategy can change age-specific mortality or reproductive rates to bring about a larger or demographically different population are also likely to alter the age-specific distribution of welfare levels by mitigating challenges (e.g. reducing disease mortality) or improving opportunities (e.g. providing better-quality habitat, such as shade for wildfire victims) for wild animals. Interventions like headstarting that aim to improve juvenile survival rates and welfare may be ideal for improving welfare expectancy in many populations, since nearly all individuals who are born would be eligible to benefit from such measures, which could improve the animals' immediate welfare as well as facilitating their survival to a self-sufficient age. The main reason that early-life interventions are arguably suboptimal in terms of population growth, yet seem plausibly ideal from the perspective of welfare expectancy, is that individuals of most species do not begin to reproduce until mid-way through their lives, but they may develop the capacity for welfare at a much earlier age.

It is a straightforward implication of the welfare expectancy approach that achieving good welfare in early life is most important, since by definition the entire cohort of each generation lives to experience their earliest stage of life. This reasoning can be generalized with a concept of age-specific welfare elasticity, asking at which age a proportional reduction in mortality rate would have the greatest impact on individuals' lifetime welfare expectancy by potentially extending their lives through periods of net-positive welfare. Demographic sensitivity analyses have become integral to wildlife population management as tools for designing the most effective interventions to increase net reproductive rate, or population growth rate (Gerber & Heppell, 2004). They have also been used less frequently to consider the sensitivity of life expectancy to changes in age-specific survival rates. For example, according to one study which drew on sparse data on the life histories of beaked whales (Family Ziphiidae), the life expectancy of beaked whales is most sensitive to changes in subadult survival, while their net reproductive rate depends most on the survival rate of mature adults (Chiquet et al., 2015). The potential for age-specific variation in welfare would add another layer to these analyses.

The elasticity of welfare expectancy  $(s_x)$  to survival rate at age *x* is proportional to the product of the following terms: (*i*) the probability of surviving from birth to that age  $(l_x)$ . Survivorship determines the proportion of individuals who would remain to benefit from an

intervention to improve survival rates and/or welfare at a given age. (*ii*) The baseline mortality rate at that age  $(m_x)$ . The probability that an individual would otherwise die determines the scope for improvement in survival rate. This reflects a practical assumption that major episodes or common causes of death may be more apparent and preventable, and therefore more effective targets for action to improve wild animal welfare (Manlik, Lacy & Sherwin, 2018). (*iii*) The expected value of welfare  $(W_{x + 1})$  in the remaining lifetime of an individual who survives that age. This represents the pay-off of an improvement in an age-specific survival rate.

For example, despite historically low rates of infant mortality, welfare expectancy among humans in the UK still appears most sensitive to improvements in the survival rate of infants (Fig. 6). Again, this makes sense given that every individual who is born experiences infancy, and so would benefit from interventions at that age, while individuals surviving infancy may go on to expect a long and relatively happy life on average. However, it is notable that lifetime welfare expectancy is only slightly less sensitive to proportional improvements in survival around retirement age. This is attributable to: (i) high reported levels of happiness among people of that age group; (i) the population's high rate of survivorship up to old age, meaning that  $\sim 60\%$  of individuals currently remain alive as late as age 80; and (iii) elevated baseline rates of mortality at this age, which leave much room for improvements in survival (i.e. high baseline mortality increases the magnitude of proportional reductions in mortality). These particular features of age-specific survivorship and welfare, such as having a 'retirement age', are clearly idiosyncratic to the studied human population. Yet, the same concepts could be applied to analysing any population for which similar data are available. Ages with especially high welfare elasticity can be thought of as 'bottleneck' ages, especially when they occur during later juvenile or subadult stages (e.g. following the withdrawal of parental care). Welfare bottlenecks can occur when (i) age-specific survival abruptly declines, having been (*ii*) preceded by high survivorship, and being (iii) followed by positive welfare expectancy. Bottlenecks occurring relatively early in life, when most of a cohort is still alive, may be promising targets for wildlife interventions, as improvements could benefit both biodiversity and welfare (Carslake, Townley & Hodgson, 2009) (Fig. 7).

Considering how small a proportion of their theoretical lifespan most individuals live through in many species (Fig. 5), the conditions for high welfare elasticity later in life may be uncommon. This suggests that all else being equal, interventions aimed at improving wild animal welfare may lead to the largest welfare increases when they benefit younger animals, since juvenile experiences will almost always be more numerous.

# VII. OUTSTANDING QUESTIONS AND CHALLENGES

# (1) Death as a discrete welfare event

Cause of death varies systematically with age in many wild animal populations (Fig. 2; Hill *et al.*, 2019*a*). Suppose that,



**Fig 6.** The confluence of age-specific mortality and age-specific welfare, illustrated here by the relative frequency of lifespans (black solid line) and self-assessed happiness on a 10-point scale (blue dotted line), determines how lifetime welfare expectancy can be affected by a marginal reduction in mortality rate at a given age (i.e. welfare elasticity; red dashed line). In this example based on UK census data for the human population (UK ONS, 2017), age-specific welfare elasticity is quantified as the per cent increase in lifetime welfare expectancy is found to be most elastic to such reductions in mortality rate during infancy and retirement (periods identified by red solid lines), with predicted benefits to lifetime welfare expectancy in excess of 2.5%.



**Fig 7.** Age-specific survival rate (black) and corresponding welfare elasticity (red) for a hypothetical population where, for simplicity, age-specific welfare is assumed to be constant across age groups. The age at which welfare elasticity is highest is identified by a filled circle. (A) A scenario in which annual survival rate is high and constant (80%) except for a bottleneck during age 2, when the survival rate halves to 40%. As a result, lifetime welfare expectancy is most elastic to improvements in survival around age 2. (B, C) Welfare expectancy remains most elastic to the survival of the youngest age group despite this bottleneck if (B) the period of 40% survival is moved from age 2 to age 5, or (C) the constant survival rate is reduced from 80 to 60%.

in a hypothetical species, juveniles are most likely to starve while adults are most likely to be predated. If future research suggests that, for example, the suffering associated with dying of starvation is substantially greater than the suffering experienced during predation, then age-specific variation in the incidence of alternative manners of death and their severity could also be important factors in the lifetime welfare expectancy of individuals of this species.

Sharp & Saunders (2011) devised a scheme for expressing the relative severity of death in the context of animal culling methods, which has been adopted by other authors (e.g. Beausoleil *et al.*, 2016). Attempts have also been made to assess the severity of different causes of death in wild animals using physiological and behavioural indicators, with some studies revealing consistent differences in stress hormone levels associated with different causes of death, supporting the intuitive hypothesis that some involve greater suffering than others. For example, stranded right whales (*Eubalaena glacialis*) showed dramatically higher faecal glucocorticoid (fGC) concentrations than fishing gear-entangled whales, whose fGC concentrations were in turn dramatically higher than those of whales killed rapidly by a vessel strike (Rolland *et al.*, 2017). Similarly, red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) who were shot with a rifle showed lower cortisol levels than those hunted by dogs (Bradshaw & Bateson, 2000). Other studies have merely focused on the amount of time involved in the event leading to an animal's death (Hampton & Forsyth, 2016). Notably, these studies are all limited to different forms of killing by humans, which actually constitutes a small fraction of all wild animal deaths, even among terrestrial mammals, when juvenile mortality is considered (Ripple *et al.*, 2017; Hill *et al.*, 2019*a*). That being said, it is likely to be most feasible to improve the lives and deaths of animals already affected by human actions.

Previous authors have argued that for an animal to have had a 'life worth living', they must have experienced enough pleasure during their life to compensate for a potentially painful death (e.g. Green & Mellor, 2011; Scherer *et al.*, 2018). For animals able to live out most of their full lifespans, this seems highly plausible; but for the vast majority of animals, which experience only a small fraction of their potential lives, far more research into the causes and their experiences of death is needed to understand the overall summed emotional character of their lives.

#### (2) Comparing long-term and short-term welfare

A wild animal's welfare at any given moment may be shaped by both chronic and acute threats and opportunities (Mellor, 2016). The concept of welfare expectancy described in Section V provides a theoretical framework for integrating and comparing welfare over different timescales. However, this will depend on our ability to assess short-term and long-term welfare on a common scale in practice. This is challenging because, to assess the welfare impact of experiences that occur on different timescales, it may be necessary to use different welfare indicators that are appropriate to each timescale. This is especially true when dealing with acute stressors that cause the death of the animal. For example, an extremely traumatic minute – followed by death – is unlikely to be reflected in measurements of the deceased animal's telomeres, but may be registered by other welfare indicators, like behaviour or stress physiology. On the other hand, an animal with a relatively mild long-term illness (e.g. a deer carrying ticks) or living in a suboptimal environment may show only slight welfare impairment; too small to detect amid the background variability in available welfare indicators, but potentially reflected in their biological ageing rates over multiple years [see Gormally & Romero (2020) for a review of appropriate timescales for different stress indicators]. Another approach could be to rely on veterinary judgement about the moment-to-moment quality of life impairment attributable to a given condition or injury (as in Teng et al., 2018) and multiply this by its duration to enable a rough comparison.

One advantage of taking a population-level perspective on individual welfare is that events that seem sudden and acute on an individual level may turn out to be less isolated given a larger sample size. As suggested earlier, a period when animals are more likely to die of starvation is probably also a period when more of them are experiencing hunger. For example, one individual dying from a disease or predation may leave behind dozens of conspecifics who suffered from the same disease or were attacked by the same predators and survived. Studying the lasting effects of trauma on surviving individuals [e.g. via biological ageing (Bateson et al., 2015); cognitive bias (Mendl et al., 2009); stress physiology (Sheriff, Krebs & Boonstra, 2010)] could help clarify the experience of the deceased and put it into longer-term perspective against the ongoing lives of survivors.

# (3) The plausibility of improving age-specific welfare

It may be challenging to act on findings about relative agespecific welfare, if only because of the progress of time. If a population of animals is found to experience higher welfare in a specific type of habitat, it might be relatively straightforward to provide that habitat for them. On the other hand, if we found that the same animals achieved the highest welfare as juveniles, it would be impossible and ultimately counterproductive to halt their ageing process. A more realistic response would be to learn more about why their welfare appears higher at this age, and thereby attempt to achieve similar conditions at other ages, such as by ensuring access to food and water during especially challenging periods (e.g. Brittingham & Temple, 1988) or protecting against disease (e.g. Hanlon et al., 1998; El Khoury et al., 2018; Hoyt et al., 2019). Additionally, some age-specific differences in welfare might be due to zero-sum competition between age groups. For example, adult wild horses may have higher welfare because they can exclude young horses from watering holes. However, even in cases like this, harmful effects of competition might be mitigated through management strategies, such as the use of wildlife contraception to limit population density while ameliorating resource scarcity (Massei & Cowan, 2014). In species with high survivorship to adulthood, some welfare issues are intrinsically linked to ageing. It may ultimately be possible to reduce suffering related to illnesses and ageing for these animals, as we do for members of our own species.

#### VIII. PRIORITIES FOR FUTURE RESEARCH

## (1) Early-life survival rates

The 'welfare expectancy' approach laid out herein implies that lifetime welfare expectancy for individuals in a population will depend most on the periods of life that most newborn individuals survive to experience. Therefore, understanding a population's survivorship curve can help to target animal welfare research on the most sensitive age groups. By definition, the shape of a survivorship curve is most strongly affected by survival rates early in life, since these limit the absolute effect size of survival rates at later ages. Unfortunately, juvenile and subadult survival rates are currently known less well than those of adults for most wild animals (Hill *et al.*, 2019*a*). This is partially due to methodological challenges which can be overcome, but which deserve extra attention given the likely importance of juvenile survival to wild animal welfare in general.

The core methodological challenge is the classic problem of unobserved states. Most research into survival rates has been directed towards a better understanding of population growth rates. As a result, many studies focus on measuring 'recruitment' to the adult population within their study area. In theory, a population's recruitment rate is a lower-bound estimate of survivorship to adulthood because it does not distinguish between individuals who die and those who may disperse outside of the study area. This same problem of accounting for dispersal also influences estimates of adult survival rates. Fortunately, it is possible to correct for this and estimate more accurate rates by combining spatial modelling and multi-state mark-recapture models (Gilroy et al., 2012; Schaub & Royle, 2014). If we aim to improve - or at least to understand - wild animal welfare, more studies should adopt these sophisticated modelling approaches.

Another challenge arises when juveniles die or disperse from their natal site very early, before researchers even have an opportunity to register their birth (e.g. Frederiksen, Wanless & Harris, 2004). One approach to overcome this is to estimate the survival rate of the missing animals using a life-cycle model that incorporates available data on survival and reproductive rates for all other stages. By assuming a specified population growth rate (ideally grounded in other data), such a model can be used to solve for the survival rate of the missing early-juvenile stage. For example, Pike *et al.* (2008) used this approach to correct previous underestimates of the juvenile survival rates of numerous reptile species.

#### (2) Early-life welfare

In populations with high juvenile mortality – a pattern which appears to characterize the life history of most wild animals due to its correlation with high fecundity (Healy *et al.*, 2019) – lifetime welfare expectancy may depend primarily on the quality of life individuals experience as juveniles and subadults. There is already a general need for research into the welfare and needs of wild animals, but this implies that that research should prioritize methods and questions that apply to juveniles, all else being equal.

Biomarkers of biological ageing are promising tools for comparing the welfare of animals of matched ages over a period of time. However, to use these methods to study age-specific variation in welfare due to extrinsic factors would require a better, species-specific understanding of how the rate of change in ageing biomarkers (e.g. telomere length) may vary with age based exclusively on intrinsic factors. For example, the telomeres of juvenile starlings shorten more rapidly than those of adults simply due to rapid cell division in growing birds (Gott *et al.*, 2018). Coincidentally, this accelerated background rate may make telomeres especially useful for comparing welfare among juvenile starlings (or other species exhibiting similar telomere dynamics) because stressors that accelerate ageing act multiplicatively on this background rate, leading to much larger disparities in telomere length for a given welfare effect size.

# (3) Efficient, non-invasive welfare indicators for wild animals

Methods to assess wild animal welfare at any age need to be cost-effective and cause as little stress as possible. To achieve cost-effectiveness, methods can rely on averaging over a large population sample, rather than needing to provide precise results for each individual. To cause minimal stress, methods should require little to no physical or sensory contact with an animal. Telomere attrition as a marker of biological age is relatively inexpensive per sample, although it requires some physical contact for obtaining a blood sample. Methods from animal agriculture and experimentation, such as grimace scales, might be adaptable to wild relatives of some captive animals, including mice and rats (Whittaker, Liu & Barker, 2021). There is also evidence that physiological effects of negative affective state can influence animals' vocalizations in complex, yet detectable ways [e.g. goats (Baciadonna et al., 2019); pigs (Briefer et al., 2019)]. It seems plausible that vocalizations recorded through animal-borne devices could be used to monitor wild animal welfare (Mcloughlin, Stewart & McElligott, 2019). Scat analyses, which are already favoured for non-invasive population genetics research (Zemanova, 2020; Steinmetz et al., 2021), also have potential to be developed into useful indicators of wild animal health and welfare. For example, mice exposed to social stress exhibit an altered microbiome, with characteristic changes in the relative abundance of specific bacterial genera (Bailey et al., 2011).

## IX. CONCLUSIONS

- (1) Considering welfare in the context of animal age could help us avoid unintended harms from actions that specifically affect animals during particular life stages, as well as drawing our attention to periods of life where actions to improve the survival rates or welfare of individuals within those age groups could have an amplified impact on their lifetime welfare.
- (2) Most wild animals live for only a small fraction of their potential lifespans. Therefore, the welfare of healthy adults, who tend to be most visible, cannot be taken as representative. In most cases, interventions to improve wild animal welfare may be of the greatest benefit where they focus on the youngest individuals.

Biological Reviews (2021) 000-000 © 2021 The Author. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- (3) Lifespan is a crucial parameter determining the cumulative welfare that an animal will experience during their life. However, the value of an additional year of life may not be constant if welfare varies with age. Analysing the age-specific elasticity of welfare expectancy, based on the demographics of a population and the welfare threats its members face, can identify exceptions to the general argument for prioritizing the youngest individuals.
- (4) The study of wild animal welfare is at a very early stage. However, the development of longer-term physiological indicators of welfare (Bateson & Poirier, 2019) and new frameworks for integrating a variety of information into a holistic welfare assessment for individual wild animals (Harvey et al., 2020) suggests that we may be on the cusp of progress in this field. As appropriate data sets emerge, there will be a need to extrapolate from the welfare of individual animals to learn something about the welfare of their population as a whole, and to predict how it may change in response to forces that disproportionately affect different age groups. The concept of welfare expectancy aims to address this by simultaneously considering variation in longevity and age-specific welfare within populations.

#### X. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank Wild Animal Initiative for their support of my research. In particular, I thank Michelle Graham, Simon Eckerström-Liedholm, Jane Capozzelli, Anthony DiGiovanni, and Matthew Allcock for their feedback and advice.

### **XI. REFERENCES**

- ALT, G. L. (1984). Black bear cub mortality due to flooding of natal dens. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 48, 1432–1434.
- AUSTAD, S. N. & HOFFMAN, J. M. (2018). Is antagonistic pleiotropy ubiquitous in aging biology? *Evolution, Medicine, and Public Health* **2018**, 287–294.
- BACIADONNA, L., BRIEFER, E. F., FAVARO, L. & MCELLIGOTT, A. G. (2019). Goats distinguish between positive and negative emotion-linked vocalisations. *Frontiers in* Zoology 16, 25.
- BAILEY, M. T., DOWD, S. E., GALLEY, J. D., HUFNAGLE, A. R., ALLEN, R. G. & LYTE, M. (2011). Exposure to a social stressor alters the structure of the intestinal microbiota: implications for stressor-induced immunomodulation. *Brain, Behavior,* and Immunity 25(3), 397–407.
- BARRETT, E. L., BURKE, T. A., HAMMERS, M., KOMDEUR, J. & RICHARDSON, D. S. (2013). Telomere length and dynamics predict mortality in a wild longitudinal study. *Molecular Ecology* 22(1), 249–259.
- BATESON, M. (2016). Cumulative stress in research animals: telomere attrition as a biomarker in a welfare context? *BioEssays* 38(2), 201–212.
- BATESON, M., EMMERSON, M., ERGÜN, G., MONAGHAN, P. & NETTLE, D. (2015). Opposite effects of early-life competition and developmental telomere attrition on cognitive biases in juvenile European starlings. *PLoS One* **10**(7), 1–23.
- BATESON, M. & POIRIER, C. (2019). Can biomarkers of biological age be used to assess cumulative lifetime experience? *Animal Welfare* 28, 41–56.
- BEAUSOLEIL, N. J., FISHER, P., LITTIN, K. E., WARBURTON, B., MELLOR, D. J., DALEFIELD, R. R. & COWAN, P. (2016). A systematic approach to evaluating and ranking the relative animal welfare impacts of wildlife control methods: poisons

used for lethal control of brushtail possums (*Trichosurus vulpecula*) in New Zealand. *Wildlife Research* **43**(7), 553–565.

- BEAUSOLEIL, N. J., MELLOR, D. J., BAKER, L., BAKER, S. E., BELLIO, M., CLARKE, A. S., DALE, A., GARLICK, S., JONES, B., HARVEY, A. & PITCHER, B. J. (2018). "Feelings and fitness" not "feelings or fitness"-the raison d'être of conservation welfare, which aligns conservation and animal welfare objectives. *Frontiers in Veterinary Science* 5, 296.
- BENTON, T. G. & GRANT, A. (1999). Elasticity analysis as an important tool in evolutionary and population ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 14(12), 467–471.
- BLUMSTEIN, D. (2010). Conservation and animal welfare issues arising from forestry practices. Animal Welfare 19, 151–157.
- BOTREAU, R., BONDE, M., BUTTERWORTH, A., PERNY, P., BRACKE, M. B., CAPDEVILLE, J. & VEISSIER, I. (2007). Aggregation of measures to produce an overall assessment of animal welfare. Part 1: a review of existing methods. *Animal* 1 (8), 1179–1187.
- BRADSHAW, E. L. & BATESON, P. (2000). Welfare implications of culling red deer (Cervus elaphus). Animal Welfare 9(1), 3–24.
- BRIEFER, E. F., VIZIER, E., GYGAX, L. & HILLMANN, E. (2019). Expression of emotional valence in pig closed-mouth grunts: involvement of both source-and filter-related parameters. *The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America* 145(5), 2895– 2908.
- BRITTINGHAM, M. C. & TEMPLE, S. A. (1988). Impacts of supplemental feeding on survival rates of black-capped chickadees. *Ecology* 69(3), 581–589.
- BROOM, D. M. (2011). A history of animal welfare science. Acta Biotheoretica 59(2), 121–137.
- BROWN, T., HAMMERS, M., TAYLOR, M., DUGDALE, H., KOMDEUR, J. & RICHARDSON, D. (2021). Haematocrit, age and survival in a vertebrate population. *Ecology and Evolution* 11(1), 214–226.
- CAPOZZELLI, J. F., HECHT, L. & HALSEY, S. J. (2020). What is the value of wild animal welfare for restoration ecology? *Restoration Ecology* 28(2), 267–270.
- CAPPA, F. M., BORGHI, C. E. & GIANNONI, S. M. (2019). How roads affect the spatial use of the Guanaco in a South American protected area: human connectivity vs animal welfare. *Diversity* 11(7), 110.
- CARNES, B. A., HOLDEN, L. R., OLSHANSKY, S. J., WITTEN, M. T. & SIEGEL, J. S. (2006). Mortality partitions and their relevance to research on senescence. *Biogerontology* 7(4), 183–198.
- CARSLAKE, D., TOWNLEY, S. & HODGSON, D. J. (2009). Patterns and rules for sensitivity and elasticity in population projection matrices. *Ecology* **90**(11), 3258– 3267.
- CAYUELA, H., SCHMIDT, B. R., WEINBACH, A., BESNARD, A. & JOLY, P. (2019). Multiple density-dependent processes shape the dynamics of a spatially structured amphibian population. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 88(1), 164–177.
- CHATELAIN, M., DROBNIAK, S. M. & SZULKIN, M. (2020). The association between stressors and telomeres in non-human vertebrates: a meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters* 23(2), 381–398.
- CHENG, T. C., POWDTHAVEE, N. & OSWALD, A. J. (2017). Longitudinal evidence for a midlife nadir in human well-being: results from four data sets. *The Economic Journal* 127(599), 126–142.
- CHIQUET, R. A., MONTGOMERY, T., MA, B. & ACKLEH, A. S. (2015). A matrix population model of beaked whales. *Neural, Parallel, and Scientific Computations* 23, 179–192.
- CHOMEL, B. B., KASTEN, R. W., CHAPPUIS, G., SOULIER, M. & KIKUCHI, Y. (1998). Serological survey of selected canine viral pathogens and zoonoses in grizzly bears (Ursus arctos horribilis) and black bears (Ursus americanus) from Alaska. Revue Scientifique et Technique 17(3), 756–766.
- CLARK, J. D. & SMITH, K. G. (1994). A demographic comparison of two black bear populations in the interior highlands of Arkansas. *Wildlife Society Bulletin* (1973-2006) 22(4), 593–603.
- CLINCHY, M., SHERIFF, M. J. & ZANETTE, L. Y. (2013). Predator-induced stress and the ecology of fear. Functional Ecology 27(1), 56–65.
- COLCHERO, F., JONES, O. R., CONDE, D. A., HODGSON, D., ZAJITSCHEK, F., SCHMIDT, B. R., MALO, A. F., ALBERTS, S. C., BECKER, P. H., BOUWHUIS, S. & BRONIKOWSKI, A. M. (2019). The diversity of population responses to environmental change. *Ecology Letters* 22(2), 342–353.
- COOKE, S. J. & O'CONNOR, C. M. (2010). Making conservation physiology relevant to policy makers and conservation practitioners. *Conservation Letters* 3(3), 159–166.
- DAWKINS, M. S. (2003). Behaviour as a tool in the assessment of animal welfare. Zoology 106(4), 383–387.
- DAWKINS, M. S. (2006). A user's guide to animal welfare science. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 21(2), 77–82.
- DE MAGALHÃES, J. P. & COSTA, J. (2009). A database of vertebrate longevity records and their relation to other life-history traits. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 22(8), 1770–1774.
- EL KHOURY, S., ROUSSEAU, A., LECOEUR, A., CHEAIB, B., BOUSLAMA, S., MERCIER, P. L., DEMEY, V., CASTEX, M., GIOVENAZZO, P. & DEROME, N. (2018). Deleterious interaction between honeybees (*Apis mellifera*) and its microsporidian intracellular parasite *Nosema ceranae* was mitigated by administrating either endogenous or allochthonous gut microbiota strains. *Frontiers in Ecology and Evolution* **6**, 58.

Biological Reviews (2021) 000-000 © 2021 The Author. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- ELOWE, K. D. & DODGE, W. E. (1989). Factors affecting black bear reproductive success and cub survival. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 53(4), 962–968.
- FAY, R., BARBRAUD, C., DELORD, K. & WEIMERSKIRCH, H. (2016). Variation in the age of first reproduction: different strategies or individual quality? *Ecology* 97(7), 1842–1851.
- FILIPSSON, K., BRIJS, J., NÄSLUND, J., WENGSTRÖM, N., ADAMSSON, M., ZÁVORKA, L., ÖSTERLING, E. M. & HÖJESJÖ, J. (2017). Encystment of parasitic freshwater pearl mussel (*Margaritifera margaritifera*) larvae coincides with increased metabolic rate and haematocrit in juvenile brown trout (*Salmo trutta*). Parasitology Research 116(4), 1353–1360.
- FREDERIKSEN, M., WANLESS, S. & HARRIS, M. P. (2004). Estimating true agedependence in survival when only adults can be observed: an example with Blacklegged Kittiwakes. *Animal Biodiversity and Conservation* 27(1), 541–548.
- GERBER, L. R. & HEPPELL, S. S. (2004). The use of demographic sensitivity analysis in marine species conservation planning. *Biological Conservation* **120**(1), 121–128.
- GILROY, J. J., VIRZI, T., BOULTON, R. L. & LOCKWOOD, J. L. (2012). A new approach to the "apparent survival" problem: estimating true survival rates from mark– recapture studies. *Ecology* 93(7), 1509–1516.
- GORMALLY, B. M. & ROMERO, L. M. (2020). What are you actually measuring? A review of techniques that integrate the stress response on distinct time-scales. *Functional Ecology* 34(10), 2030–2044.
- GOTT, A., ANDREWS, C., HORMIGOS, M. L., SPENCER, K., BATESON, M. & NETTLE, D. (2018). Chronological age, biological age, and individual variation in the stress response in the European starling: a follow-up study. *Perf* **6**, e5842.
- GRANTHON, C. & WILLIAMS, D. A. (2017). Avian malaria, body condition, and blood parameters in four species of songbirds. *The Wilson Journal of Omithology* 129(3), 492–508.
- GREEN, T. C. & MELLOR, D. J. (2011). Extending ideas about animal welfare assessment to include 'quality of life' and related concepts. *New Zealand Veterinary Journal* 59(6), 263–271.
- HAMMERS, M., KINGMA, S. A., BEBBINGTON, K., VAN DE CROMMENACKER, J., SPURGIN, L. G., RICHARDSON, D. S., BURKE, T., DUGDALE, H. L. & KOMDEUR, J. (2015). Senescence in the wild: insights from a long-term study on Seychelles warblers. *Experimental Gerontology* **71**, 69–79.
- HAMMERS, M., KOMDEUR, J., KINGMA, S. A., HUTCHINGS, K., FAIRFIELD, E. A., GILROY, D. L. & RICHARDSON, D. S. (2016). Age-specific haemosporidian infection dynamics and survival in Seychelles warblers. *Scientific Reports* 6(1), 1–9.
- HAMPTON, J. O. & FORSYTH, D. M. (2016). An assessment of animal welfare for the culling of peri-urban kangaroos. *Wildlife Research* 43(3), 261–266.
- HANLON, C. A., NIEZGODA, M., HAMIR, A. N., SCHUMACHER, C., KOPROWSKI, H. & RUPPRECHT, C. E. (1998). First North American field release of a vaccinia-rabies glycoprotein recombinant virus. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 34(2), 228–239.
- HARREL, S. L. & DIBBLE, E. D. (2001). Foraging efficiency of juvenile bluegill, Leponis macrochirus, among different vegetated habitats. Environmental Biology of Fishes 62(4), 441–453.
- HARVEY, A. M., BEAUSOLEIL, N. J., RAMP, D. & MELLOR, D. J. (2020). A ten-stage protocol for assessing the welfare of individual non-captive wild animals: freeroaming horses (*Equus ferus caballus*) as an example. *Animals* 10(1), 148.
- HEALY, K., EZARD, T. H. G., JONES, O. R., SALGUERO-GÓMEZ, R. & BUCKLEY, Y. M. (2019). Animal life history is shaped by the pace of life and the distribution of age-specific mortality and reproduction. *Nature Ecology & Evolution* 3 (8), 1217–1224.
- HEISEY, D. M. & PATTERSON, B. R. (2006). A review of methods to estimate causespecific mortality in presence of competing risks. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 70(6), 1544–1555.
- HEPPELL, S. S., CROWDER, L. B. & CROUSE, D. T. (1996). Models to evaluate headstarting as a management tool for long-lived turtles. *Ecological Applications* 6(2), 556–565.
- HILL, J. E., DEVAULT, T. L. & BELANT, J. L. (2019a). Cause-specific mortality of the world's terrestrial vertebrates. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* 28(5), 680–689.
- HILL, J. E., DEVAULT, T. L. & BELANT, J. L. (2019b). CauseSpec: a database of global terrestrial vertebrate cause-specific mortality. *Ecology* 100(12), e02865.
- HOLMES, E. E. & YORK, A. E. (2003). Using age structure to detect impacts on threatened populations: a case study with Steller sea lions. *Conservation Biology* 17(6), 1794–1806.
- HOLMES, W. G. (1991). Predator risk affects foraging behaviour of pikas: observational and experimental evidence. *Animal Behaviour* **42**(1), 111–119.
- HOYT, J. R., LANGWIG, K. E., WHITE, J. P., KAARAKKA, H. M., REDELL, J. A., PARISE, K. L., FRICK, W. F., FOSTER, J. T. & KILPATRICK, A. M. (2019). Field trial of a probiotic bacteria to protect bats from white-nose syndrome. *Scientific Reports* **9**(1), 9158.
- JEGLINSKI, J. W., WERNER, C., ROBINSON, P. W., COSTA, D. P. & TRILLMICH, F. (2012). Age, body mass and environmental variation shape the foraging ontogeny of Galapagos sca lions. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 453, 279–296.

- JOHNSTONE, C. P., REINA, R. D. & LILL, A. (2012). Interpreting indices of physiological stress in free-living vertebrates. *Journal of Comparative Physiology B* 182 (7), 861–879.
- KEAY, J. A., ROBBINS, C. T. & FARLEY, S. D. (2018). Characteristics of a naturally regulated grizzly bear population. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 82(4), 789–801.
- LeCount, A. L. (1987). Causes of black bear cub mortality. *Bears: Their Biology and Management* **7**, 75–82.
- MAAG, N., COZZI, G., BATEMAN, A., HEISTERMANN, M., GANSWINDT, A., MANSER, M., CLUTTON-BROCK, T. & OZGUL, A. (2019). Cost of dispersal in a social mammal: body mass loss and increased stress. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B: Biological Sciences* 286(1896), 20190033.
- MANLIK, O., LACY, R. C. & SHERWIN, W. B. (2018). Applicability and limitations of sensitivity analyses for wildlife management. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 55(3), 1430– 1440.
- MASSEI, G. & COWAN, D. (2014). Fertility control to mitigate human–wildlife conflicts: a review. *Wildlife Research* **41**(1), 1–21.
- MCLOUGHLIN, M. P., STEWART, R. & MCELLIGOTT, A. G. (2019). Automated bioacoustics: methods in ecology and conservation and their potential for animal welfare monitoring. *Journal of the Royal Society Interface* 16(155), 20190225.
- MELLOR, D. & BEAUSOLEIL, N. (2015). Extending the 'Five Domains' model for animal welfare assessment to incorporate positive welfare states. *Animal Welfare* 24 (3), 241–253.
- MELLOR, D. J. (2016). Moving beyond the "five freedoms" by updating the "five provisions" and introducing aligned "animal welfare aims". Animals 6(10), 59.
- MELLOR, D. J., BEAUSOLEIL, N. J., LITTLEWOOD, K. E., MCLEAN, A. N., MCGREEVY, P. D., JONES, B. & WILKINS, C. (2020). The 2020 Five Domains model: including human-animal interactions in assessments of animal welfare. *Animals* 10(10), 1870.
- MENDL, M., BURMAN, O. H., PARKER, R. M. & PAUL, E. S. (2009). Cognitive bias as an indicator of animal emotion and welfare: emerging evidence and underlying mechanisms. *Applied Animal Behaviour Science* 118(3–4), 161–181.
- MILLER, S. D. (1994). Black bear reproduction and cub survivorship in south-central Alaska. *Bears: Their Biology and Management* 9, 263–273.
- MONSON, D. H., DOAK, D. F., BALLACHEY, B. E., JOHNSON, A. & BODKIN, J. L. (2000). Long-term impacts of the Exxon Valdez oil spill on sea otters, assessed through age-dependent mortality patterns. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 97(12), 6562–6567.
- MOORAD, J., PROMISLOW, D. & SILVERTOWN, J. (2019). Evolutionary ecology of senescence and a reassessment of Williams' 'extrinsic mortality' hypothesis. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 34(6), 519–530.
- MORENO, E., BARBOSA, A., DE LEÓN, A. & FARGALLO, J. A. (1999). Phenotypic selection on morphology at independence in the Chinstrap penguin *Pygoscelis* antarctica. Journal of Evolutionary Biology 12, 507–513.
- NG, Y.-K. (1995). Towards welfare biology: evolutionary economics of animal consciousness and suffering. *Biology and Philosophy* 10(3), 255–285.
- NORDSTRÖM, M. & BOOTH, D. M. (2007). Drift algae reduce foraging efficiency of juvenile flatfish. *Journal of Sea Research* 58(4), 335–341.
- PICKARD, J. (2013). Review of the Assessment of Cumulative Severity in Non-Human Primates Used in Neuroscience Research. Animal Procedures Committee, London. https://assets. publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment\_data/ file/911937/review-cumulative-severity-tor.pdf.
- PIKE, D. A., PIZZATTO, L., PIKE, B. A. & SHINE, R. (2008). Estimating survival rates of uncatchable animals: the myth of high juvenile mortality in reptiles. *Ecology* 89(3), 607–611.
- POLITO, M. J. & TRIVELPIECE, W. Z. (2008). Transition to independence and evidence of extended parental care in the gentoo penguin (*Pygoscelis papua*). Marine Biology 154 (2), 231–240.
- RAKOTONIAINA, J. H., KAPPELER, P. M., KAESLER, E., HÄMÄLÄINEN, A. M., KIRSCHBAUM, C. & KRAUS, C. (2017). Hair cortisol concentrations correlate negatively with survival in a wild primate population. *BMC Ecology* 17(1), 1–3.
- RAMOS, R., MORERA-PUJOL, V., CRUZ-FLORES, M., LÓPEZ-SOUTO, S., BROTHERS, M. & GONZÁLEZ-SOLÍS, J. (2019). A geolocator-tagged fledgling provides first evidence on juvenile movements of Cory's Shearwater *Calonectris* borealis. Bird Study 66(2), 283–288.
- RICKLEFS, R. E. (2000). Intrinsic aging-related mortality in birds. *Journal of Avian Biology* 31(2), 103–111.
- RIPPLE, W. J., WOLF, C., NEWSOME, T. M., HOFFMANN, M., WIRSING, A. J. & MCCAULEY, D. J. (2017). Extinction risk is most acute for the world's largest and smallest vertebrates. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 114(40), 10678–10683.
- ROLLAND, R. M., MCLELLAN, W. A., MOORE, M. J., HARMS, C. A., BURGESS, E. A. & HUNT, K. E. (2017). Fecal glucocorticoids and anthropogenic injury and mortality in North Atlantic right whales *Eubalaena glacialis*. *Endangered Species Research* 34, 417–429.
- SALGUERO-GÓMEZ, R., JONES, O. R., ARCHER, C. R., BEIN, C., DE BUHR, H., FARACK, C., GOTTSCHALK, F., HARTMANN, A., HENNING, A., HOPPE, G. &

RÖMER, G. (2016). COMADRE: a global data base of animal demography. *Journal of Animal Ecology* **85**(2), 371–384.

- SCHAUB, M. & ROYLE, J. A. (2014). Estimating true instead of apparent survival using spatial Cormack-jolly–Seber models. *Methods in Ecology and Evolution* 5(12), 1316– 1326.
- SCHERER, L., TOMASIK, B., RUEDA, O. & PFISTER, S. (2018). Framework for integrating animal welfare into life cycle sustainability assessment. *The International Journal of Life Cycle Assessment* 23(7), 1476–1490.
- SCHMIDT-POSTHAUS, H., BREITENMOSER-WÖRSTEN, C., POSTHAUS, H., BACCIARINI, L. & BREITENMOSER, U. (2002). Causes of mortality in reintroduced Eurasian lynx in Switzerland. *Journal of Wildlife Diseases* 38(1), 84–92.
- SCHWARTZ, C. C. & FRANZMANN, A. W. (1992). Dispersal and survival of subadult black bears from the Kenai Peninsula, Alaska. *The Journal of Wildlife Management* 56 (3), 426–431.
- SHARP, T. & SAUNDERS, G. (2011). A Model for Assessing the Relative Humaneness of Pest Animal Control Methods. Department of Agriculture, Fisheries and Forestry, Canberra.
- SHERIFF, M. J., KREBS, C. J. & BOONSTRA, R. (2010). The ghosts of predators past: population cycles and the role of maternal programming under fluctuating predation risk. *Ecology* **91**(10), 2983–2994.
- SILER, W. (1979). A competing-risk model for animal mortality. *Ecology* 60(4), 750–757. SORYL, A. A., MOORE, A. J., SEDDON, P. J. & KING, M. R. (2021). The case for welfare
- SORYI, A. A., MOORE, A. J., SEDDON, F. J. & KING, M. K. (2021). The case for weildred biology. *Journal of Agricultural and Environmental Ethics* 34(2), 1–25.
- STEARNS, S. C. (1992). The Evolution of Life Histories. Oxford University Press, Oxford. STEINMETZ, K., MURPHY, S., CADHLA, O. Ó., BARNETT, J. & MIRIMIN, L. (2021). Enabling pinniped conservation by means of non-invasive genetic population analysis. Conservation Genetics Resources 3, 1–2.
- STORFER, A., MURPHY, M. A., SPEAR, S. F., HOLDEREGGER, R. & WAITS, L. P. (2010). Landscape genetics: where are we now? *Molecular Ecology* 19(17), 3496–3514.

- STUBBEN, C. & MILLIGAN, B. (2007). Estimating and analyzing demographic models using the popbio package in R. *Journal of Statistical Software* 22(11), 1–23.
- TENG, K. T., DEVLEESSCHAUWER, B., MAERTENS DE NOORDHOUT, C., BENNETT, P., MCGREEVY, P. D., CHIU, P. Y., TORIBIO, J. A. & DHAND, N. K. (2018). Welfare-adjusted life years (WALY): a novel metric of animal welfare that combines the impacts of impaired welfare and abbreviated lifespan. *PLoS One* 13 (9), e0202580.
- TRITES, A. W. & DONNELLY, C. P. (2003). The decline of Steller sea lions *Eumetopias jubatus* in Alaska: a review of the nutritional stress hypothesis. *Mammal Review* 33(1), 3–28.
- UK OFFICE FOR NATIONAL STATISTICS. (2017). National life tables. https://www.ons. gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/ lifeexpectancies/bulletins/nationallifetablesunitedkingdom/2016to2018
- WALKER, M., DUGGAN, G., ROULSTON, N., VAN SLACK, A. & MASON, G. (2012). Negative affective states and their effects on morbidity, mortality and longevity. *Animal Welfare* 21(4), 497–509.
- WEINSTEIN, M. C., TORRANCE, G. & MCGUIRE, A. (2009). QALYs: the basics. Value in Health 12, S5–S9.
- WHEELWRIGHT, N. T. & TEMPLETON, J. J. (2003). Development of foraging skills and the transition to independence in juvenile Savannah sparrows. *The Condor* 105(2), 279–287.
- WHITTAKER, A. L., LIU, Y. & BARKER, T. H. (2021). Methods used and application of the mouse grimace scale in biomedical research 10 years on: a scoping review. *Animals* 11(3), 673.
- WILLIAMS, G. C. (1957). Pleiotropy, natural selection, and the evolution of senescence. *Evolution* 11(4), 398–411.
- ZEMANOVA, M. A. (2020). Towards more compassionate wildlife research through the 3Rs principles: moving from invasive to non-invasive methods. *Wildlife Biology* 2020(1).

(Received 10 November 2020; revised 15 June 2021; accepted 16 June 2021)